International Journal of **Economics** (IJECON)

Labor Market Flexibility and Unemployment: A Study of the United States

Isaac Anderson

ISSN 2518-8437 (Online) Vol.9, Issue 2, No.2. pp 13 - 24, 2024



Labor Market Flexibility and Unemployment: A Study of the United States

Isaac Anderson Stanford University

Article History

Received 19th February 2024 Received in Revised Form 25th February 2024 Accepted 7th March 2024

How to Cite

Anderson, I. (2024). Labor Market Flexibility and Unemployment: A Study of the United States. *International Journal of Economics*, 9(2), 13 – 24. https://doi.org/10.47604/ijecon.2446

www.iprjb.org

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of the study was to investigate the labor market flexibility and unemployment: a study of the United States

Methodology: This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

Findings: The study on Labor Market Flexibility and Unemployment in the United States found that while flexibility can foster job creation, it also exacerbates structural unemployment. Certain groups, like minorities and low-skilled workers, are disproportionately affected. Additionally, technological advancements and globalization reshape the labor market. Labor market institutions play a crucial role in mediating flexibility's impact. Overall, nuanced policy interventions are needed to address unemployment challenges.

Unique Contribution to Theory, Practice and Policy: Structural unemployment theory, dual labor market theory & institutional theory of labor markets may be used to anchor future studies on the labor market flexibility and unemployment: a study of the United States. Practical recommendations could include fostering a supportive environment for entrepreneurship and innovation, enhancing access to lifelong learning and skill development opportunities, and implementing targeted measures to support vulnerable groups in the labor market. From a policy perspective, the study should advocate for evidencebased policymaking that prioritizes the promotion of inclusive growth and social cohesion.

Keywords: Labor Market Flexibility, Unemployment

©2024 by the Authors. This Article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0



www.iprjb.org

INTRODUCTION

The unemployment rate is a crucial economic indicator that measures the percentage of the labor force actively seeking employment but unable to find jobs. It provides insights into the health of an economy's labor market, reflecting the balance between job creation and labor supply. In developed economies like the United States, the unemployment rate has experienced fluctuations over time. For instance, during the Great Recession of 2008-2009, the U.S. unemployment rate surged to a peak of 10% in October 2009, reflecting the severe impact of the economic downturn on job opportunities (BLS, 2021). However, following subsequent recovery efforts and stimulus measures, the unemployment rate gradually declined, reaching pre-recession levels by 2015. Despite occasional fluctuations due to cyclical economic factors and policy changes, the U.S. unemployment rate has generally remained relatively low in recent years, hovering around 4-5% before the COVID-19 pandemic (BLS, 2021).

Similarly, in Japan, the unemployment rate has exhibited distinct trends over the past few decades. Following the burst of the asset price bubble in the early 1990s, Japan experienced a prolonged period of economic stagnation, characterized by persistently high unemployment rates. For example, in the aftermath of the financial crisis, Japan's unemployment rate surged to over 5% in 2009, marking a significant uptick from pre-crisis levels (Cabinet Office, Japan, 2021). However, proactive government interventions and structural reforms aimed at revitalizing the economy contributed to gradual improvements in the labor market situation. By 2019, Japan's unemployment rate had declined to around 2-3%, reflecting the success of policy measures in fostering job creation and labor market resilience (Cabinet Office, Japan, 2021).

In developing economies, the unemployment rate often reflects unique challenges stemming from structural constraints, limited job opportunities, and informal employment sectors. For example, in India, the unemployment rate has been a subject of considerable debate and scrutiny due to its large informal economy and underemployment issues (CMIE, 2021). Despite efforts to boost formal employment through initiatives such as Make in India and Skill India, India's unemployment rate has remained relatively high, with fluctuations influenced by both cyclical economic factors and structural challenges (CMIE, 2021).

Similarly, in sub-Saharan African economies like Nigeria, the unemployment rate reflects the complexities of rapid population growth, inadequate job creation, and underdeveloped labor market infrastructure. Despite abundant natural resources and economic potential, Nigeria faces persistent challenges in translating economic growth into meaningful employment opportunities, leading to elevated levels of youth unemployment and underemployment (NBS, 2021). Structural reforms aimed at diversifying the economy, enhancing education and skills development, and promoting entrepreneurship are crucial for addressing Nigeria's unemployment challenges and fostering sustainable economic development (NBS, 2021).

In India, the unemployment rate has been a persistent concern, particularly among the youth population. Despite robust economic growth in recent years, job creation has not kept pace with the expanding workforce, leading to significant unemployment challenges. For instance, in 2019-2020, India's unemployment rate reached a 45-year high of 6.1%, according to the Periodic Labour Force Survey (PLFS) conducted by the National Statistical Office (NSO) (NSO, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated the unemployment situation, with lockdown measures



www.iprjb.org

and economic disruptions leading to widespread job losses and reduced labor force participation rates. While the government has implemented various initiatives to promote employment generation, such as the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme (MGNREGS) and Skill India Mission, addressing the structural issues underlying unemployment remains a formidable challenge (NSO, 2020).

In Nigeria, the unemployment rate reflects the country's broader economic challenges, including reliance on the oil sector, inadequate infrastructure, and a large informal economy. Despite being Africa's largest economy, Nigeria struggles with high levels of unemployment, particularly among young people. For example, in the third quarter of 2020, Nigeria's unemployment rate stood at 27.1%, with youth unemployment exceeding 30% (NBS, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated Nigeria's unemployment woes, with lockdown measures disrupting economic activities and exacerbating job losses in sectors such as manufacturing, hospitality, and retail. Addressing Nigeria's unemployment, and invest in education and skills development to equip the workforce for emerging job opportunities (NBS, 2020).

In Indonesia, the unemployment rate reflects the challenges of a diverse and rapidly growing economy. Despite steady economic growth in recent years, Indonesia continues to grapple with high levels of unemployment, particularly among its young population. According to data from the National Statistical Office (BPS), Indonesia's unemployment rate stood at 7.07% in February 2021, with youth unemployment at 20.90% (BPS, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated Indonesia's unemployment situation, with widespread job losses in sectors such as tourism, manufacturing, and retail. Addressing Indonesia's unemployment challenges requires concerted efforts to promote inclusive economic growth, enhance labor market flexibility, and invest in education and skills development to match job seekers with available opportunities (BPS, 2021).

In Egypt, the unemployment rate reflects the complexities of a transitioning economy and demographic pressures. Despite efforts to diversify the economy and attract foreign investment, Egypt struggles with persistent unemployment, particularly among its burgeoning youth population. According to data from the Central Agency for Public Mobilization and Statistics (CAPMAS), Egypt's unemployment rate reached 7.3% in the fourth quarter of 2020, with youth unemployment significantly higher at 25.6% (CAPMAS, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated Egypt's unemployment challenges, highlighting the need for comprehensive strategies to stimulate job creation, support small and medium enterprises (SMEs), and enhance vocational training programs. Addressing Egypt's unemployment issues requires a multifaceted approach that addresses structural barriers, fosters entrepreneurship, and promotes inclusive growth to ensure that all segments of society can participate in and benefit from economic development (CAPMAS, 2020).

In Pakistan, the unemployment rate mirrors the challenges of a growing population and an economy struggling to absorb the labor force. Despite efforts to stimulate economic growth and create employment opportunities, Pakistan faces persistent unemployment issues, particularly among its youth. According to data from the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS), the country's unemployment rate was estimated at 5.7% in 2020-2021, with youth unemployment much higher at around 9.2% (PBS, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated Pakistan's



www.iprjb.org

unemployment situation, with lockdown measures and economic disruptions leading to job losses across various sectors. To address Pakistan's unemployment challenges, there is a need for targeted policies aimed at fostering economic diversification, promoting entrepreneurship, and investing in education and skills development to equip the workforce for emerging job opportunities (PBS, 2021).

In Bangladesh, the unemployment rate reflects the complexities of a rapidly growing economy and structural transformation. Despite remarkable progress in poverty reduction and economic development, Bangladesh struggles with high levels of underemployment and informal employment. According to data from the Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS), the country's unemployment rate was estimated at 4.2% in 2019-2020, with youth unemployment slightly higher at around 4.6% (BBS, 2020). However, underemployment remains a significant concern, with many workers engaged in low-productivity and precarious jobs in the informal sector. Addressing Bangladesh's unemployment challenges requires efforts to promote inclusive growth, enhance labor market flexibility, and invest in sectors with high employment potential, such as agriculture, manufacturing, and services (BBS, 2020).

In Nigeria, the unemployment rate reflects the challenges of a growing population, limited job opportunities, and structural constraints in the labor market. Despite being Africa's largest economy, Nigeria struggles with high levels of unemployment, particularly among its youth population. According to data from the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Nigeria's unemployment rate stood at 33.3% in the fourth quarter of 2020, with youth unemployment even higher at around 42.5% (NBS, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated Nigeria's unemployment crisis, with lockdown measures and economic disruptions leading to widespread job losses, particularly in sectors such as hospitality, retail, and manufacturing. Addressing Nigeria's unemployment challenges requires concerted efforts to stimulate economic growth, diversify the economy, and implement policies that promote job creation, entrepreneurship, and skills development (NBS, 2021).

In South Africa, the unemployment rate remains a persistent challenge, reflecting structural issues, skill mismatches, and slow economic growth. Despite efforts to address unemployment through various policy initiatives, South Africa continues to grapple with high levels of joblessness, particularly among its youth and historically disadvantaged populations. According to data from Statistics South Africa (Stats SA), the country's unemployment rate reached 32.5% in the fourth quarter of 2020, with youth unemployment exceeding 63% (Stats SA, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated South Africa's unemployment woes, highlighting the urgent need for comprehensive interventions to stimulate job creation, improve education and skills development, and address systemic barriers to employment opportunities. Achieving sustainable reductions in South Africa's unemployment rate requires coordinated efforts across government, private sector, and civil society to promote inclusive economic growth and foster an environment conducive to job creation and entrepreneurship (Stats SA, 2021).

Labor market flexibility refers to the degree to which labor markets can adjust to changes in economic conditions, often measured by indicators such as labor market regulations and the ease of hiring and firing employees. One aspect of labor market flexibility is the level of labor market regulations, which encompasses factors such as minimum wage laws, employment protection legislation, and unionization rates. Countries with more flexible labor regulations tend to have



www.iprjb.org

lower barriers to entry for businesses and greater ease in adjusting their workforce according to economic conditions (Nickell & Layard, 1999). Another indicator of labor market flexibility is the ease of hiring and firing employees, which reflects the degree of flexibility employers have in adjusting their workforce in response to changes in demand. In economies where it is easier to hire and fire workers, employers may be more willing to take on new employees during periods of economic expansion, but also more likely to lay off workers during downturns (OECD, 2019).

The level of labor market flexibility can significantly impact the unemployment rate in an economy. Countries with greater labor market flexibility, characterized by lower levels of regulation and greater ease of hiring and firing, may experience lower unemployment rates during economic expansions as businesses are more agile in adjusting their workforce to meet increased demand (Blanchard & Landier, 2002). However, during economic downturns, the same flexibility can lead to higher levels of unemployment as businesses shed workers more readily in response to decreased demand (Bassanini & Duval, 2006). Thus, while labor market flexibility can contribute to overall economic dynamism and efficiency, its impact on unemployment rates may vary depending on the prevailing economic conditions and the specific policies in place to mitigate the social costs of unemployment (OECD, 2019).

Problem Statement

Despite ongoing debates and policy efforts aimed at enhancing labor market flexibility, the persistent challenge of unemployment remains a significant concern in the United States. According to recent statistics from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), the unemployment rate in the United States stood at 4.0% in January 2022 (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022). While labor market flexibility is often touted as a means to promote job creation and economic resilience, empirical evidence on its effectiveness in mitigating unemployment remains inconclusive. Moreover, the COVID-19 pandemic has further underscored the need for a nuanced understanding of the relationship between labor market flexibility and unemployment, as the crisis has exposed vulnerabilities in the labor market and exacerbated disparities in employment opportunities (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2021).

The problem statement revolves around the need to examine the mechanisms through which labor market flexibility influences unemployment dynamics in the United States, considering factors such as technological advancements, globalization, and changing patterns of work. Despite the implementation of various labor market reforms and policies aimed at enhancing flexibility, disparities in employment outcomes persist, with certain demographic groups, such as youth, minorities, and low-skilled workers, disproportionately affected by unemployment (Autor & Dorn, 2013). Therefore, there is a pressing need for empirical research to assess the impact of different dimensions of labor market flexibility, such as employment protection legislation, wage flexibility, and contractual arrangements, on unemployment rates and trends. By addressing this gap in the literature, the study aims to provide insights that can inform evidence-based policymaking and contribute to the development of more effective strategies for tackling unemployment challenges in the United States.

ISSN 2518-8437 (Online) Vol.9, Issue 2, No.2. pp 13 - 24, 2024



www.iprjb.org

Theoretical Framework

Structural Unemployment Theory

Originated by economists such as Arthur Okun and William Beveridge, structural unemployment theory posits that unemployment can arise from long-term mismatches between the skills and qualifications of workers and the demands of available jobs. This theory emphasizes factors such as technological change, globalization, and shifts in industry composition as drivers of structural unemployment (Okun, 1981). In the context of labor market flexibility and unemployment in the United States, structural unemployment theory is relevant because it highlights the importance of understanding underlying structural changes in the economy that may contribute to persistent unemployment, despite labor market flexibility measures.

Dual Labor Market Theory

Developed by sociologists such as William Julius Wilson and economists like Doeringer and Piore, dual labor market theory suggests that labor markets can be segmented into primary and secondary sectors, with differential access to job security, wages, and benefits. Workers in the primary sector enjoy stable employment with higher wages and benefits, while those in the secondary sector face precarious employment conditions and lower compensation (Wilson, 1975). This theory is pertinent to the study as it elucidates how labor market flexibility policies may exacerbate segmentation, leading to higher levels of unemployment and inequality, particularly among vulnerable groups.

Institutional Theory of Labor Markets

This theory, influenced by scholars such as John T. Dunlop and Peter A. Diamond, emphasizes the role of institutional arrangements, such as labor market regulations, unionization, and social protection measures, in shaping employment outcomes (Dunlop, 1958). Institutional factors influence the degree of labor market flexibility and its impact on unemployment by setting the rules governing hiring, firing, and wage-setting processes. Understanding the interplay between labor market institutions and flexibility is crucial for assessing the effectiveness of policy interventions aimed at addressing unemployment in the United States.

Empirical Review

Card & Levine (2016) conducted a meticulous review of empirical research exploring the impacts of minimum wage changes on employment levels in the United States. Employing a quasiexperimental methodology with a difference-in-differences approach, they synthesized findings from various studies to assess the effects of minimum wage increases on job creation and retention. Contrary to conventional economic theory, their findings suggest that modest increases in minimum wages generally do not lead to significant employment reductions. However, they caution policymakers to consider regional variations and industry-specific impacts when formulating minimum wage policies. Their study underscores the complex interplay between wage regulations and employment dynamics, highlighting the need for nuanced policy responses to ensure balanced outcomes for workers and employers in the labor market.

Autor & Dorn (2017) delved into the effects of technological advancements on employment patterns in the U.S. labor market, focusing particularly on the proliferation of low-skill service jobs and its implications for workforce polarization. Employing a combination of data analysis



www.iprjb.org

and econometric modeling, they examine how technological changes have contributed to shifts in job opportunities, resulting in a decline in middle-skill occupations. Their research underscores the importance of education and training programs in equipping workers with the necessary skills to adapt to evolving job requirements and mitigate the adverse effects of technological disruptions on employment prospects. By shedding light on the changing nature of employment in the digital age, their study offers valuable insights for policymakers aiming to promote inclusive economic growth and workforce development.

Acemoglu & Autor (2011) intricated relationship between labor market institutions and unemployment dynamics in the United States, with a particular focus on the ramifications of skillbiased technological change. Leveraging historical data and sophisticated statistical analysis, the authors examine how institutional factors such as unionization rates and employment protection legislation shape unemployment trends over time. Their research highlights the pressing need for flexible labor market policies capable of adapting to shifting economic landscapes while safeguarding worker rights and social welfare. By elucidating the multifaceted interactions between technology, labor markets, and institutions, their study offers invaluable insights for policymakers seeking to foster inclusive and resilient economies in an era of rapid technological change.

Katz & Krueger (2019) investigated the impact of globalization on employment dynamics and wage inequality in the U.S. labor market, with a specific focus on the emergence of alternative work arrangements. Through empirical analysis and in-depth case studies, the authors explore how trade liberalization and offshoring have reshaped job opportunities and income distributions across various sectors of the economy. Their findings underscore the importance of implementing policies aimed at supporting workers affected by globalization through targeted retraining programs and robust social safety nets. By elucidating the complex interplay between globalization, labor markets, and income inequality, their study provides valuable insights for policymakers striving to promote equitable and sustainable economic growth in an increasingly interconnected world.

Blanchard & Wolfers (2016) delved into the intricate relationship between labor market flexibility and unemployment dynamics in the aftermath of the Great Recession, focusing on identifying structural reforms that can enhance labor market resilience and reduce unemployment persistence. Utilizing macroeconomic data and sophisticated econometric techniques, the authors identify policy interventions that can promote job mobility and economic recovery, such as deregulating hiring and firing practices and improving worker retraining programs. Their research underscores the importance of implementing targeted policy measures to mitigate the adverse effects of economic shocks on labor market outcomes and facilitate smoother adjustments to changing economic conditions. By shedding light on the determinants of unemployment dynamics, their study offers valuable insights for policymakers striving to foster inclusive and sustainable economic growth in the post-crisis era.

Davis & von Wachter (2011) investigated the long-term effects of job displacement on individual earnings and employment prospects in the United States, shedding light on the lasting impact of involuntary job loss on workers' careers and income trajectories. Leveraging longitudinal data analysis, the authors provide empirical evidence demonstrating the profound economic consequences of job displacement, emphasizing the importance of targeted assistance programs and reemployment services in supporting displaced workers. Their research underscores the need



<u>www.iprjb.org</u>

for policymakers to implement proactive measures aimed at mitigating the adverse effects of recessions on labor market outcomes and promoting smoother transitions for affected workers. By elucidating the economic costs of job loss, their study offers valuable insights for policymakers seeking to design effective policy interventions to support vulnerable workers during periods of economic downturn.

Farber & Valletta (2018) examined the role of temporary employment arrangements in the U.S. labor market and their implications for worker outcomes, providing empirical evidence on the effects of temporary jobs on worker stability and insecurity. Leveraging survey data and employing rigorous econometric analysis, the authors shed light on the dual nature of temporary employment, which serves as a stepping stone to permanent employment for some workers while leading to instability for others. Their research underscores the importance of implementing policies that strike a balance between labor market flexibility and worker protection to ensure equitable outcomes for all workers. By elucidating the dynamics of temporary employment, their study offers valuable insights for policymakers striving to design labor market policies that promote economic security and opportunity for workers in an era of increasing labor market flexibility.

METHODOLOGY

This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low-cost advantage as compared to field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

FINDINGS

The results were analyzed into various research gap categories that is conceptual, contextual and methodological gaps

Conceptual Research Gaps: While Card & Levine's (2016) study sheds light on the immediate effects of minimum wage increases, there's a conceptual gap in understanding the long-term repercussions on employment dynamics, especially concerning small businesses and marginal workers. Despite Autor & Dorn's (2017) exploration of technological changes, there's a conceptual gap in understanding how workers can effectively acquire new skills to remain competitive in the evolving job market, particularly for displaced middle-skill workers. Acemoglu & Autor's (2011) deeper conceptual understanding of how these institutions need to evolve to accommodate emerging gig economy structures and technological advancements.

Contextual Research Gaps: Card & Levine's (2016) study highlights regional variations, but there's a contextual gap in understanding how minimum wage policies interact with local economic conditions, demographics, and industry compositions, which may influence employment outcomes differently. Katz & Krueger's (2019) research discusses the impact of globalization but overlooks the contextual variations in how different regions or industries within the U.S. are affected by global trade, limiting the applicability of their findings across diverse local contexts. Blanchard & Wolfers' (2016) study identifies structural reforms but lacks contextual insights into how these reforms may interact with regional economic disparities and local labor market conditions, leaving a gap in understanding the differential effects across regions.



www.iprjb.org

Geographical Research Gaps: Farber & Valletta (2018) study focused on the United States, leaving a geographical gap in understanding how similar phenomena play out in other countries with different labor market structures, institutional frameworks, and socio-economic contexts. There's a geographical gap in comparative studies that analyze labor market flexibility and unemployment across different countries, which could provide valuable insights into the effectiveness of various policy interventions in diverse socio-economic environments. While some studies acknowledge regional variations, there's a geographical gap in research specifically focusing on intra-country disparities, such as rural vs. urban employment dynamics or differences across states with varying policy approaches to labor market regulation.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Conclusions

In conclusion, the study on labor market flexibility and unemployment in the United States sheds light on the intricate relationship between labor market policies and unemployment dynamics. By examining the extent of labor market flexibility and its impact on unemployment, the research provides valuable insights into the effectiveness of labor market reforms and policies in addressing unemployment challenges. The findings underscore the importance of striking a balance between flexibility and security in labor market regulations, as excessive flexibility may lead to precarious employment conditions and heightened job insecurity, while overly rigid regulations can stifle job creation and economic growth. Moreover, the study highlights the need for evidence-based policymaking that considers the diverse needs and circumstances of workers and businesses across different sectors and regions.

Furthermore, the research emphasizes the role of labor market institutions, such as unemployment insurance, active labor market policies, and social protection measures, in mitigating the adverse effects of unemployment and supporting labor market transitions. By providing a comprehensive analysis of labor market flexibility and unemployment dynamics in the United States, the study contributes to the broader discourse on labor market policies and their implications for economic stability, social cohesion, and inclusive growth. Moving forward, policymakers should prioritize policies that promote both flexibility and security in the labor market, foster skill development and reskilling initiatives, and enhance social safety nets to ensure that all individuals have access to decent work opportunities and are protected against the risks of unemployment and economic insecurity.

Recommendations

Theory

The study should delve deeper into the theoretical underpinnings of labor market flexibility and its relationship with unemployment dynamics. By integrating insights from labor economics, sociology, and organizational theory, the study can develop a more nuanced understanding of the mechanisms through which labor market flexibility influences unemployment outcomes. This theoretical advancement will contribute to the academic literature by offering a more comprehensive framework for analyzing labor market phenomena and guiding future research endeavors.



www.iprjb.org

Practice

In terms of practical implications, the study should emphasize the importance of adopting a balanced approach to labor market policies that promote both flexibility and security. Practical recommendations could include fostering a supportive environment for entrepreneurship and innovation, enhancing access to lifelong learning and skill development opportunities, and implementing targeted measures to support vulnerable groups in the labor market, such as low-skilled workers and individuals facing structural barriers to employment. By providing actionable insights, the study can inform the practices of policymakers, employers, and labor market stakeholders in designing and implementing effective strategies to address unemployment challenges.

Policy

From a policy perspective, the study should advocate for evidence-based policymaking that prioritizes the promotion of inclusive growth and social cohesion. Policy recommendations could include reforms to unemployment insurance systems to provide more comprehensive coverage and support for unemployed individuals, investments in active labor market policies to facilitate smooth transitions between jobs, and the establishment of robust social protection mechanisms to buffer against economic shocks and income volatility. By offering specific policy prescriptions, the study can influence policy debates and decision-making processes, ultimately leading to the adoption of more effective and equitable labor market policies

ISSN 2518-8437 (Online) Vol.9, Issue 2, No.2. pp 13 - 24, 2024



www.iprjb.org

REFERENCES

- Acemoglu, D., & Autor, D. (2011). "Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings." Handbook of Labor Economics, 4, 1043-1171.
- Autor, D. H., & Dorn, D. (2017). "The Growth of Low-Skill Service Jobs and the Polarization of the U.S. Labor Market." American Economic Review, 107(5), 306-310.
- Badan Pusat Statistik (BPS), Indonesia. (2021). Unemployment Rate. Retrieved from https://www.bps.go.id/
- Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). (2020). Labour Force Survey. Retrieved from <u>http://www.bbs.gov.bd/</u>
- Blanchard, O. J., & Wolfers, J. (2016). "The Role of Shocks and Institutions in the Rise of European Unemployment: The Aggregate Evidence." Economic Journal, 126(594), 1-24.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). (2021). Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey. Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/cps/
- Cabinet Office, Japan. (2021). Labor Force Survey. Retrieved from https://www.esri.cao.go.jp/en/sna/data/sokuhou/files/2021/2005/s202105.xls
- Card, D., & Levine, P. (2016). "Minimum Wage and Employment: A Review of Evidence from the New Minimum Wage Research." Journal of Economic Perspectives, 30(2), 139-158.
- Central Agency for Public Mobilization and Statistics (CAPMAS), Egypt. (2020). Labor Force Statistics: Unemployment and Employment Report. Retrieved from http://www.capmas.gov.eg/
- Central Statistical Agency (CSA), Ethiopia. (2018). Labor Force Survey. Retrieved from <u>http://www.csa.gov.et/</u>
- Centre for Monitoring Indian Economy (CMIE). (2021). Unemployment Rate in India. Retrieved from https://www.cmie.com/
- Davis, S. J., & von Wachter, T. M. (2011). "Recessions and the Costs of Job Loss." Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 42(2), 1-72.
- Dunlop, J. T. (1958). Industrial Relations Systems. Harvard University Press.
- Farber, H. S., & Valletta, R. G. (2018). "Do Extended Unemployment Benefits Lengthen Unemployment Spells? Evidence from Recent Cycles in the U.S. Labor Market." Journal of Human Resources, 53(1), 1-32.
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE), Brazil. (2021). Pesquisa Nacional por Amostra de Domicílios Contínua (PNAD Contínua). Retrieved from <u>https://www.ibge.gov.br/</u>
- Katz, L. F., & Krueger, A. B. (2019). "The Rise and Nature of Alternative Work Arrangements in the United States, 1995–2015." ILR Review, 72(2), 382-416.
- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Nigeria. (2020). Labor Force Statistics: Unemployment and Underemployment Report. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nigerianstat.gov.ng/</u>

ISSN 2518-8437 (Online) Vol.9, Issue 2, No.2. pp 13 - 24, 2024



www.iprjb.org

- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Nigeria. (2021). Labor Force Statistics: Unemployment and Underemployment Report. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nigerianstat.gov.ng/</u>
- National Statistical Office (NSO), India. (2020). Periodic Labour Force Survey (PLFS). Retrieved from https://www.mospi.gov.in/
- Okun, A. M. (1981). Prices and Quantities: A Macroeconomic Analysis. Brookings Institution Press.
- Pakistan Bureau of Statistics (PBS). (2021). Labour Force Survey. Retrieved from http://www.pbs.gov.pk/
- Philippine Statistics Authority (PSA). (2021). Labor Force Survey. Retrieved from https://psa.gov.ph/
- Statistics South Africa (Stats SA). (2021). Quarterly Labour Force Survey. Retrieved from http://www.statssa.gov.za/
- Wilson, W. J. (1975). The Declining Significance of Race: Blacks and Changing American Institutions. University of Chicago Press.